Original Article

Spatial distribution of the sport fishing in the state of Amazonas, northern Brazil

Distribuição espacial da pesca esportiva no estado do Amazonas, Brasil

C. Lubich^{a*} (0, F. Siqueira-Souza^{a,b} (0, G. Batista^c and C. Freitas^{a,b} (0)

^aUniversidade Federal do Amazonas – UFAM, Programa de Pós-graduação em Ciência Animal e Recursos Pesqueiros, Manaus, AM, Brasil ^bUniversidade Federal do Amazonas – UFAM, Departamento de Ciências Pesqueiras, Manaus, AM, Brasil ^cInstituto de Proteção Ambiental do Amazonas – IPAAM, Manaus, AM, Brasil

Abstract

The objective of this study was to spatialize sport fishing operations and assess the frequency of the use of the fishing areas in the state of Amazonas by combining the Geographic Information System (GIS) approach and information available in the documents sent to the Instituto de Proteção Ambiental do Amazonas (IPAAM). Information on sport fishing tourism operations was gathered from the IPAAM database and fishing licenses (FLs). Data analysis was conducted utilizing descriptive analysis, and the spatialization of the locations was performed using Q-GIS software. From 2002 to August 2021, 163 requests for FLs were made. There was a decrease in the amount of first time FL requests, with a peak in 2018 and 2019, N=17 and N=18, respectively. The activity is conducted in 24 municipalities, with Barcelos (31.36%) and Presidente Figueiredo (17.75%) being the most popular. At the sub-basin level, sport fishing is notably present in the Negro, Amazonas, Aripuanã, Madeira, Purus and Solimões River basins. Overall, 26.38% of operations take place in conservation areas, specifically in sustainable development reserves (SDRs). Barcelos recorded the largest number of rivers used, with 15 rivers. These results can support future proposals for the sustainable management of fisheries through the zoning of fishing areas in the state of Amazonas.

Keywords: fishing areas, spatialization, fisheries resources, fisheries zoning.

Resumo

O objetivo deste estudo foi espacializar as operações de pesca esportiva e avaliar a frequência de uso das áreas de pesca no estado do Amazonas, combinando a abordagem do Sistema de Informações Geográficas (SIG) e informações disponíveis nos documentos enviados ao Instituto de Proteção Ambiental do Amazonas (IPAAM). As informações sobre as operações de turismo de pesca esportiva foram coletadas na base de dados do IPAAM e dos Certificados de Registro de Pesca (CRPs). A análise dos dados foi realizada por meio de análise descritiva e a espacialização dos locais foi realizada por meio do software Q-GIS. De 2002 a agosto de 2021, foram feitas 163 solicitações de CRP. Houve uma diminuição na quantidade de primeiras solicitações de CRP, com pico em 2018 e 2019, N=17 e N=18, respectivamente. A atividade é realizada em 24 municípios, sendo Barcelos (31,36%) e Presidente Figueiredo (17,75%) os mais populares. Em nível de sub-bacias, a pesca esportiva está presente principalmente nas bacias dos rios Negro, Amazonas, Aripuanã, Madeira, Purus e Solimões. No geral, 26,38% das operações ocorrem em áreas de conservação, especificamente em Reservas de Desenvolvimento Sustentável (RDS). Barcelos registou o maior número de rios utilizados, com 15 rios. Esses resultados podem subsidiar propostas futuras para a gestão sustentável da pesca por meio do zoneamento das áreas de pesca no estado do Amazonas.

Palavras-chave: áreas de pesca, espacialização, recursos pesqueiros, zoneamento pesqueiro.

1. Introduction

Sport fishing is an activity carried out in various parts of the world with the purpose of leisure and sport (Freire et al., 2020). With leisure's purposes, it could be performed with the procedure of catch and release or capture by quotas for fish of various species. It is estimated that about 10% of the world's population carries out this leisure activity, and it provides important social and economic benefits for those involved (Cooke and Cowx, 2004; Arlinghaus et al., 2019). In Brazil, this activity has denominations that can vary between amateur, sports and recreational. Brazilian legislation establishes the definition "amateur" as a general denomination, while the terms "sport" is associated with catch and release, and "recreational" with quota for the catch (law 11,959/2009; Brasil, 2009a and Ordinance 4/2009; Brasil, 2009b); both are also widespread and used to refer to sport fishing.

*e-mail: lubichchiara@gmail.com Received: February 1, 2024 – Accepted: July 10, 2024

 \odot \odot

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

In general, despite being widely disseminated and having more than 200,000 fishers of this type in Brazil (Brasil, 2021), information on Brazilian sport fishing is related mainly to issues related to catch and release mortality (Chaves and Freire, 2012; Varandas et al., 2013; Thome-Souza et al., 2014; Lennox et al., 2015; Barroco et al., 2018; Sanches and Piana, 2020), to the socioeconomic profile of anglers (Condini et al., 2007; Harayashiki et al., 2011; Tsuruda et al., 2013) and to the evaluation of the stocks of target species (Pinheiro and Joyeux, 2015; Campos et al., 2020; Guabiroba et al., 2020; Giglio et al., 2020; Lubich et al., 2021). There is little information about spatialization and the frequency of use of fishing grounds by anglers (Pereira et al., 2019; Lopes and Freitas, 2019; Lopes et al., 2020, 2023).

In the state of Pará, in the northern region of Brazil, Valente et al. (2019) spatialized sport fishing and indicated that the activity occurred in only 26 municipalities, with a higher occurrence in the capital, Belém, on the Guamá River. For the same state, Rodrigues et al. (2020) identified the activity occurring in 22 municipalities, with the main interest in fishing being in the Mojuim and Mocajuba Rivers, which bathe the municipalities of São Joao da Ponta, São Caetano de Odivelas and Curuça. These studies show either low or no use of other areas/municipalities within the territory of the state of Pará that have great potential for the development of the activity.

The state of Amazonas has great potential for the development of sport fishery in its territory since it presents a rich ichthyofauna and a wide variety of landscapes that provide tourist fishers with an unique experience of contact with nature (Silva and Lima, 2014). However, there are at least more three fishing modalities exploiting the Amazonian fishing resources: commercial, subsistence and ornamental and conflicts among them have been related in several localities (Freitas and Rivas, 2006). Due to the growth of sport fishing in the state, some regions have experienced conflicts between those involved in different fishing activities, which are mainly motivated by the common use of resources and territory, such happens at the Negro River basin (Sobreiro, 2015). This area involves fishers focused on commercial and sports fishing and who share use of the species of tucunaré (Cichla sp.) (Freitas and Rivas, 2006; Sobreiro and Freitas, 2008; Barra et al., 2010; Reis et al., 2022), but with different objectives and destinations for the captured fishes.

These conflicts and the increase in activity led to the implementation of legislation in 2018 that sort to regulate sport fishing operations in the state of Amazonas. Therefore, for companies to offer sport fishing packages, it is necessary for the entrepreneurs to obtain licenses for their operations, whether for boat-based hotels, lodges, jungle hotels, or floating hotels. Thus, before sport fishing activities begin, operating licenses must be requested. These licenses are provided by the Amazonas Environmental Protection Institute (IPAAM), which is the government agency responsible for control, monitoring, and regularization of environmental activities in the state of Amazonas. Requests must contain information about the nature of the enterprise, a description of the methods used for capturing fish, identification of the areas to be explored, and mitigating measures to be adopted during captures (Decree 39.125/18; Amazonas, 2018 and Ordinance 070/19; Amazonas, 2019b). With the approval of the request, the companies may obtain fishing licenses (FL). The FL is valid for 365 days and allows the realization of sport fishing tourism within the area identified in the license. Its renewal is mandatory and must occur annually for the legal continuation of the activity in the state of Amazonas.

While there is a global argument associating the decline in fish stocks with commercial fisheries, recreational fisheries also have the potential to negatively impact fish and fisheries (Cooke and Cowx, 2004; Arlinghaus et al., 2019; Michailidis et al., 2020; Cooke et al., 2021b). Thus, spatial ecology in fishing provides crucial information about the population dynamics of fishery resources, essential for effective management and conservation of fish populations. As demonstrated by Garrone-Neto et al. (2018), who investigated the distribution of a highly targeted species by fishermen in the Southeast region of Brazil, Centropomus parallelus, it was found that this species had the ability to move across political borders between the states of Paraná and São Paulo. Based on their results, the authors recommended revising recreational fishing regulations in these two states to ensure effective conservation of the population. Additionally, understanding on its spatialization, the frequency of use of fishing grounds, and an analysis of the fishing operations growing can be essential in order to support and strengthen proposals for fisheries management, especially for the zoning of areas that involve different fishing modalities in the region.

The Geographic Information System (GIS) is one of the most commonly used tools to study and spatialize fishing sites (Caddy, 1999), and has been used mostly to analyze commercial fishing in different Brazilian states such as Pará (Pereira et al., 2019) and Amazonas (Lopes and Freitas, 2019; Lopes et al., 2020, 2023). Thus, the present study investigates the spatial distribution and frequency of use of fishing grounds by sport fishing operations in the state of Amazonas using the GIS approach. The results generated contribute to better knowledge of the activity and help to subsidize future proposals for the sustainable management of fisheries through zoning of fishing areas in the state of Amazonas.

2. Materials and Methods

The study was conducted in the state of Amazonas, in the northern region of Brazil. It is considered the largest Brazilian state in territorial area, with approximately 1,559,167.878 km², an estimated population of 4,269,995 inhabitants and demographic density of 2.23 inhabitants/km² (IBGE, 2021a). It is one of the main destinations for Brazilian and foreign anglers (Brasil, 2014; Amazonas, 2016) due to the diversity of fish species, aggressive behavior of some species and its variety of aquatic environments.

2.1. Data collection

Information on sport fishing tourism operations was obtained through a partnership with Fisheries Control Management (FCM/IPAAM) and authorization to extract data from the database of the Instituto de Proteção Ambiental do Amazonas (IPAAM). Ipaam provides the licensing of sport fishing tourism operations under the responsibility of the Fisheries Control Management (FCM/ IPAAM), which issues the fishing licenses (FLs) in the state of Amazonas.

For the study, the requests and the corresponding licenses conceded from January 2002 to August 2021 were analyzed. These documents were provided by the Fisheries Control Management office (FCM/IPAAM). Information was extracted regarding the number of requests submitted per year, and the municipalities and areas where sport fishing occurred.

2.2. Data analysis

The quantification of requests for FLs and non-renewal of the FLs by year was performed using descriptive analysis (Zar, 2010). The identification of the municipalities and locations where fishing took place were spatialized according to the geographical coordinates of the fishing grounds available in the FCM reports. In cases in which there were no coordinates, information from the IBGE database (IBGE, 2021b) and Venticinque et al. (2016) was used to identify the municipalities and the river basin.

The Q-GIS software (version 2.18) was used for the construction of the maps, using hydrography and territorial limits data from IBGE (2021b). Usage frequency per municipality was added using the dbf extension in shapefiles. Spatialization of fishing sites at river level was conducted only in cases where there were two or more rivers identified.

3. Results

Applications for the fishing licenses (FLs) from the Instituto de Proteção Ambiental do Amazonas (IPAAM) for sport fishing began in 2002. From January 2002 to August 2021, 163 requests for FLs were made. Of this total, 94.48% of the requests were conceded regarding the FLs (88.34% for the realization of sport fishing tourism; 5.52% for the realization of a fishing tournament; and 0.61% for a commercial establishment specialized in fishing equipment) and 5.52% were not conceded because they were requests for which there was no continuity in the process, that is, the sport fishing operations companies only sent requests, but did not follow them up and/or respond to notifications, therefore, they did not receive a FL.

In 2002, twenty-two requests for FLs were made, of which six did not request renewal for continuation of the activity in the following year. In the other years, there was a decrease in the number of first-time requests for FLs, though the frequency increased again in the years 2016, 2018 and 2019 (Figure 1). Regarding the years in which there was an absence requests for renewals of FLs, the highest value was obtained in 2019, in which 22 operators did not request a renewal of their FL for operations in 2020 (Figure 1).

From the 163 requests for FLs, 116 requests identified the area where the sport fishing occurred, which were



Figure 1. Frequency of the first request and no request for renewal of the fishing licenses from the Instituto de Proteção Ambiental do Amazonas (IPAAM).

43 requests for the realization of sport fishing tourism in conservation areas – sustainable development reserves (SDR) (Table 1), 59 with identification only at the municipal level, and 14 with more specific identification, including the geographic coordinates of the location or the rivers to be fished. From this information, 24 municipalities were identified where sport fishing tourism occurs in the state of Amazonas. The five municipalities with the highest request for the practice were Barcelos (31.36%), Presidente Figueiredo (17.75%), Itacoatiara (4.73%), Borba (2.96%) and Careiro (2.37%) (Figure 2). However, there were 47 requests in which there was no identification of the area of activity, which on the license only indicated the "state of Amazonas" or "state of Amazonas, not including protected areas".

Sport fishing companies operate throughout the Amazon basin, exploring rivers with various water colorations, such as black, white, and clear waters (Figure 2). The activities are most frequent in the basins of the Negro, Amazonas, Aripuanã, Madeira, Purus, and Solimões Rivers, including some tributaries of these main basins (Figure 2).

The requests for licenses that indicated the specific areas to be fished, i.e., the river, were for fishing in the municipalities of Barcelos (N=8), Santa Isabel do Rio Negro (N=2), Borba (N=1), Manaus (N=1), Nova Olinda do Norte (n=1) and São Gabriel da Cachoeira (N=1) (Figure 3). Barcelos municipality (Figure 3B) presented the greatest number of rivers specified for fishing (N=15). However, two rivers are not within the territory of Barcelos: Preto River (which belongs to Santa Isabel do Rio Negro) and Jauaperi (belonging to Novo Airão), the latter also being mentioned in the license requests from Manaus (Figure 3C). A similar pattern is observed in requests from the municipality of Nova Olinda do Norte, where most rivers do not fall within the municipality's territory, except for the Paraconi River, which is situated on its boundary (Figure 3D).

For the municipality of Borba, only the Abacaxis River was identified. In São Gabriel da Cachoeira, although three rivers (Marié, Turi and Rubo Rivers) were mentioned in the requests, only the Marié River is listed in the hydrographic data of the IBGE (2021b). The rivers fished in the municipalities of Santa Isabel do Rio Negro and São Gabriel da Cachoeira (Figure 3A) are located within **Table 1.** Number of requests for fishing licenses (FLs) to carry out sport fishing tourism in conservation areas in the state of Amazonas. The Mamirauá sustainable development reserve (SDR) covers more than one municipality. In this case, a municipality with an asterisk (*) identifies where the operations are carried out.

| Municipality | Sustainable development reserve (SDR) | Conservation area as a % of the municipality (%) | Number of requests (N) |
|-------------------------|--|---|------------------------|
| São Sebastião do Uatumã | Uatumã SDR | 59.07 | 33 |
| Itapiranga | | 40.93 | |
| Borba | Matupiri SDR | 100 | 6 |
| Novo Aripuanã | Juma SDR | 100 | 1 |
| Fonte Boa | Mamirauá SDR | 52.36 | 1 |
| Maraã | | 26.97 | |
| Uarini* | | 18.28 | |
| Japurá | | 1.4 | |
| Tonantins | | 0.99 | |
| Apuí | Bararati SDR | 100 | 1 |
| Anori | Piagaçu-Purus SDR | 40.19 | 1 |
| Tapauá | | 30.15 | |
| Beruri | | 28.09 | |
| Coari | | 1.57 | |
| | N total = | | 43 |



Figure 2. Identification and spatialization of the municipalities of the state of Amazonas according to the number of requests for fishing licenses (FLs) from the Instituto de Proteção Ambiental do Amazonas (IPAAM) to carry out sport fishing. **AN=** Anori; **AP=** Apuí; **AU=** Autazes; **BA=** Barcelos; **BE=** Beruri; **BO=** Borba; **CA=** Careiro; **CV=** Careiro da Várzea; **CO=** Coari; **IR=** Iranduba; **IT=** Itacoatiara; **IP=** Itapiranga; **MA=** Manaus; **MU=** Maués; **NO=** Nova Olinda do Norte; **NA=** Novo Airão; **NP=** Novo Aripuanã; **PF=** Presidente Figueiredo; **SI=** Santa Isabel do Rio Negro; **SG=** São Gabriel da Cachoeira; **SS=** São Sebastião do Uatumã; **TP=** Tapauá; **UA=** Uarini; **UR=** Urucará.

indigenous territories, as are the Canumã and Tupana Rivers in Nova Olinda do Norte (Figure 3D).

4. Discussion

Sport fishing tourism in the state of Amazonas should be licensed annually, through the request and renewal of the fishing licenses (FLs), either for specialized companies or for holding fishing tournaments. The high number of applications for licensing in 2002, the first year of the historical series, could be explained by the need to regularization of several companies that were operating before the system of register be implanted. The subtle trend in the increase in the number of FL requests found in the next years until 2016, when it was not mandatory to submit reports provided for in state



Figure 3. Spatialization of the rivers identified in the requests for fishing licenses (FLs) for sport fishing in four municipalities of the state of Amazonas, **(A) Santa Isabel do Rio Negro (SIR):** 1) Urubaxi; 2) Aiuanã; 3) Uneiuxi; 4) Téa and 5) Negro Rivers; **(B) Barcelos** (**BAO**): 1) Unini; 2) Negro; 3) Araras; 4) Jauaperi; 5) Caurés; 6) Jufari; 7) Cuiuni; 8) Demeni; 9) Aracá; 10) Curuduri; 11) Itú; 12) Ararirá; 13) Atauí; 14) Preto and 15) Padauiri Rivers; **(C) Manaus (MAO)**: 1) Tarumã; 2) Cuieiras; 3) Apuaú; 4) Negro; and 5) Jauaperi Rivers; **(D) Nova Olinda do Norte (NON)**: 1) Araçá Grande; 2) Paraconi; 3) Madeira; 4) Canumã; 5) Tupana; 6) Sucunduri; and 7) Acarí Rivers.

legislation (Decrees 39,125/2018; Amazonas, 2018 and Ordinance 070/2019; Amazonas, 2019b), can be explained by a number of issues: i) gradual availability of internet access in the municipalities of the Solimões-Amazon River channel from 2010 (Lima and Schor, 2008), and in the Negro River channel from 2012 (Soares, 2016), which provided greater dissemination of fishing packages through digital means, thus increasing the number of possible customers from different parts of the world; ii) gradual dissemination of the Middle Rio Negro region as an exceptional area to develop sports fishing and leisure activity; iii) encouragement and strengthening of the activity through the creation of the National Amateur Fishing Program (PNDPA) (Brasil, 2024), and iv) gradual adaptation and expansion of the operations, with the inclusion of other modalities of operation, such as floating hotels, jungle lodges and camps (Furtado, 2020; Lubich et al., 2023), which offered more options for fishers with different profiles.

The peaks in FL requests in 2018 and 2019 may reflect the implementation of state legislation (Decrees 39,125/2018 and Ordinance 070/2019; Amazonas, 2018, 2019b), which makes it mandatory to send reports (work plan and log) regarding operations. In the document, operators must present information related to personal data, characterization of the enterprise, operational methods, methods for monitoring the fish caught, operation locations, impacts, and mitigation measures. Compliance with these rules is now mandatory to the operation be certified and/or renewal granted.

However, annually there are companies that do not carry out a renewal of their FL, and no information about the reasons that lead operators not to request a renewal was sent to IPAAM, leaving a gap in the process. The peak in non-renewal requests was most pronounced in 2019, possibly influenced by the global COVID-19 pandemic that began affecting the world in early 2020. The impacts of the coronavirus pandemic on world (Falcon et al., 2020; Lenzen et al., 2020; Cooke et al., 2021a), Brazilian (Clemente et al., 2020; Lamas et al., 2020; Mecca and Gedoz, 2020) and Amazonian (Menezes et al., 2021; Vidal et al., 2021) tourism has already been reported in the literature. These studies, in general, cite as some of the causes the suspension of some tourist sectors, the drop in the flow of tourists, the reduction in passengers at airports and bus stations, as well as the cancellation and postponement of trips, fairs and events.

Despite the pandemic in 2020, AmazonasTur (2020) cite that sport fishing was the strongest Amazonian tourism segment in this year. The continuity of the activity in the midst of the pandemic was also narrated to the coastal region of the state of São Paulo, although this occurred at a lower frequency and with feer participants (Laurelli et al., 2021).

According to Cooke et al. (2021a), due to the lockdown period during the pandemic, there was an increase in the effort and exploitation of sport fishing around the world, as many people sought outdoor spaces and many countries encouraged sport fishing as a socially distanced activity. In North America, in 2020, about 90% of states did not suspend or delay the sport fishing season and places such as Arkansas, Kentucky and New York chose to encourage sport fishing during the pandemic, as long as it was carried out in compliance with the public health guidelines of each state (Paradis et al., 2021).

Although the state of Amazonas has 62 municipalities, only 24 (38.71%) are make requests for FLs for the legal practice of fishing tourism by operators. Similar patterns were found by Brasil (2014) and Amazonas (2016), which state that the sport fishing season affects 25 Amazonian municipalities, with the municipality of Barcelos being the main destination, as well as the municipalities located along the channel of the Negro River basin. Along the channel of the Negro River basin, the Marié (Barra, 2016), Urubaxi, Padauiri, Aracá, Demeni, Cuiuni, Caures, Unini (Barroco and Freitas, 2014), Uneiuxi, Aiuanã, Preto, Itú (Furtado, 2020; Lubich et al., 2021) Caurés, Jufari, Curuduri, Atauí, Preto, Padauiri (Lubich et al., 2023) rivers are already known as locations for sport fishing. Besides in the Negro River, sport fishing has been documented in the Madeira (Pinto et al., 2024) and Solimões River basins (Garcez et al., 2010). The preference for these areas can be attributed to the presence of species of tucunaré (Cichla sp.) throughout the Amazon basin, which is the main flagship of the activity and symbolizes sport fishing in the Amazon. According to Kullander and Ferreira (2006), seven species are distributed within the boundaries of the state of Amazonas.

As was found in the present study, there are reports in the literature of the occurrence of fishing activity in protected areas, such as in sustainable development reserves (Amazonas, 2019a) and in indigenous territories, in the municipalities of São Gabriel da Cachoeira (Barra, 2016) and Santa Isabel do Rio Negro (Lubich et al., 2021), which is a legally approved practice (Ordinance 91/2020, Brasil, 2020). However, it is important to mention that sport fishing in protected areas must adhere to the definitions of the National System of Conservation (law 9985/2000, Brasil, 2000). This activity is prohibited in areas of total protection, which are sites with significant biodiversity and whose purpose is the preservation of sensitive ecosystems. Nevertheless, the development of fishing tourism in protected areas should require infrastructure projected with low impact on the environment. Additionally, an increase in the number of anglers can put pressure on natural resources, leading to overfishing and ecosystem disruption and this fishing should be carefully managed.

The importance of the Negro River basin for sport fishing tourism is particularly evident, and this is due to the unique landscapes that are found in this region. These include the Serra do Aracá National Park, the Unini Extractive Reserve, and part of the Jaú National Park. The Mariuá Environmental Preservation Area is also located in this region and is considered the largest freshwater river archipelago in the world, with about 1,600 islands. In addition, there is the possibility of catching large specimens of tucunaré (Cichla spp.) and catfish (Siluriformes), and the municipality of Barcelos has been considered the international capital of sport fishing. In this region, the world records for weight and length of peacock bass (*Cichla temensis* Humboldt 1821) were broken in 2010 and 2015, and for butterfly peacock bass (Cichla orinocensis Humboldt 1821) in 2010 and 2019. These were all homologated by the International Game Fish Association (IFGA, 2021), a non-profit organization which recognizes fisheries and catch records by fish species and size, as well as by category of equipment used in fishing.

Due to the mandatory sending of reports of the fishing season by operators, provided for by law (Decrees 2,713/2001, 39,125/2018 and Ordinance 070/2019), these reports are and have been fundamental for identifying the most exploited places for the practice of fishing tourism. Based on this study, we recommend raising awareness among sport fishing entrepreneurs to operate legally under the supervision of environmental regulatory agencies. This not only helps avoid penalties but also demonstrates environmental responsibility, providing greater safety for fishers. Regions that experience heavy fishing activity, such as Barcelos, Presidente Figueiredo, Itacoatiara, Borba, and Careiro, should receive attention from management and oversight bodies. The increasing number of anglers could potentially negatively impact fish stocks in these areas. Emphasizing the importance of studying the carrying capacity of the main tributaries used for sport fishing is crucial for ensuring long-term environmental conservation and sustainable development. Such approach can support future proposals for the sustainable management of fisheries through the zoning of fishing areas in the state of Amazonas.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the Universidade Federal do Amazonas, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciência Animal e Recursos Pesqueiros, and the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Amazonas (FAPEAM) for the doctoral grant conceded to the first author (Grant: POSGRAD 2020/2021 - Resolution nº 006/2020) and payment of the publication fee for this article (POSGRAD 2023/2024 - Resolution nº 002/2023).

References

- AMAZONAS. Governo do Estado do Amazonas, 2016 [viewed 27 October 2021]. Pesca esportiva vai atrair dez mil turistas ao Amazonas [online]. Available from: www.amazonas.am.gov. br/2016/09/pesca-esportiva-vai-atrair-dez-mil-turistas-aoamazonas/
- AMAZONAS. Governo do Estado do Amazonas, 2018 [viewed 27 October 2021]. Decreto nº 39.125, de 14 de junho de 2018 [online]. Diário Oficial do Estado do Amazonas, Manaus, 14 jun. Available from: https://www.ipaam.am.gov.br/wp-content/ uploads/2019/07/Decreto-n%C2%BA-39.125-de-14-de-Junhode-2018.pdf
- AMAZONAS. Governo do Estado do Amazonas, 2019a [viewed 27 October 2021]. Início da temporada de pesca esportiva consolida RDS do Uatumã como destino para turismo sustentável [online]. Available from: www.amazonas.am.gov.br/2019/08/inicio-datemporada-de-pesca-esportiva-consolida-rds-do-uatumacomo-destino-para-turismo-sustentavel/
- AMAZONAS. Instituto de Proteção Ambiental do Amazonas IPAAM, 2019b [viewed 27 October 2021]. Portaria IPAAM nº 070, de 23 de abril de 2019 [online]. Diário Oficial do Estado do Amazonas, Manaus, 6 maio. Available from: www.ipaam. am.gov.br/pesca-esportiva/
- ARLINGHAUS, R., ABBOTT, J.K., FENICHEL, E.P., CARPENTER, S.R., HUNT, L.M., ALÓS, J., KLEFOTH, T., COOKE, S.J., HILBORN, R., JENSEN, O.P., WILBERG, M.J., POST, J.R. and MANFREDO, M.J.,

2019. Governing the recreational dimension of global fisheries. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 116, no. 12, pp. 5209-5213. http://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1902796116. PMid:30890655.

- BARRA, C.S., 2016. Recreational fishing and territorial management in indigenous Amazonia. In: W.W. TAYLOR, D.M. BARTLEY, C.I. GODDARD, N.J. LEONARD and R. WELCOMME, eds. Freshwater, fish and the future. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, pp. 311-317.
- BARRA, C.S., DIAS, C.J. and CARVALHEIRO, K., eds., 2010. Como cuidar para o peixe não acabar. São Paulo: Instituto Socioambiental. Série Pescarias no Rio Negro.
- BARROCO, L.S.A. and FREITAS, C., 2014. A pesca esportiva na Amazônia: implicações para a sustentabilidade dos estoques pesqueiros e da atividade. *Revista Scientia Amazonia*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 93-99.
- BARROCO, L.S.A., FREITAS, C.E.C. and LIMA, A.C., 2018. Estimation of peacock bass (*Cichla* spp.) mortality rate during catchrelease fishing employing different post-capture procedures. *Brazilian Journal of Biology = Revista Brasileira de Biologia*, vol. 78, no. 2, pp. 195-201. http://doi.org/10.1590/1519-6984.18915. PMid:28832842.
- BRASIL, 2000 [viewed 3 June 2024]. Lei nº 9.985, de 18 de julho de 2000. Regulamenta o art. 225, § 10, incisos I, II, III e VII da Constituição Federal, institui o Sistema Nacional de Unidades de Conservação da Natureza e dá outras providências [online]. Diário Oficial da República Federativa do Brasil, Brasilia, 19 jul. Available from: https://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/ leis/L9985.htm
- BRASIL, 2009a [viewed 27 October 2021]. Lei nº 11.959, de 29 de junho de 2009. Dispõe sobre a Política Nacional de Desenvolvimento Sustentável da Aquicultura e da Pesca [online]. Diário Oficial da República Federativa do Brasil, Brasilia, 30 jun. Available from: https://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/_ato2007-2010/2009/ lei/l11959.htm
- BRASIL. Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos Recursos Naturais Renováveis – IBAMA, 2009b [viewed 27 October 2021]. Portaria IBAMA nº 4, de 19 de março de 2009 [online]. Diário Oficial da República Federativa do Brasil, Brasilia, 23 mar. Available from: https://www.icmbio.gov.br/cepsul/ images/stories/legislacao/Portaria/2009/p_ibama_04_2009_ normasparapescaamadora_revoga_p_30_2003_51_2003.pdf
- BRASIL. Ministério do Turismo, 2014 [viewed 27 October 2021]. Temporada de pesca esportiva no Amazonas reforça turismo [online]. Available from: www.gov.br/turismo/pt-br/assuntos/ noticias/temporada-de-pesca-esportiva-no-amazonas-reforcaturismo
- BRASIL. Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade – ICMBIO, 2020 [viewed 27 October 2021]. Portaria nº 91, de 4 de fevereiro de 2020 [online]. Diário Oficial da República Federativa do Brasil, Brasilia, 5 fev. Available from: www.in.gov.br/en/web/ dou/-/portaria-n-91-de-4-de-fevereiro-de-2020-241574956
- BRASIL. Ministério da Agricultura, Pecuária e Abastecimento MAPA, 2021 [viewed 20 July 2021]. Quantitativo de licenças de pesca amadora emitidas pela Secretaria de Aquicultura e Pesca – SAP de fevereiro de 2019 a junho de 2020, Brasil. Brasília: Serviço de Informação ao Cidadão/MAPA, 1 p.
- BRASIL. Ministério da Pesca e Aquicultura MPA, 2024 [viewed 27 October 2021]. Plano Nacional para o desenvolvimento sutentável da pesca amadora e esportiva (PNPA) [online]. Brasilia. Available from: https://www.gov.br/mpa/pt-br/assuntos/pesca/pescaamadora-e-esportiva/cartilha.pdf

- CADDY, J., 1999. The spatial allocation of fishing intensity by portbased inshore fleets: a GIS application. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 388-403. http://doi.org/10.1006/ jmsc.1999.0477.
- CAMPOS, C.P., CATARINO, M.F. and FREITAS, C.E.C., 2020. Stock assessment of the peacock bass *Cichla temensis* (Humboldt, 1821), an important fishing resource from the middle Negro River, Amazonas, Brazil. *Brazilian Journal of Biology = Revista Brasileira de Biologia*, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 506-510. http://doi. org/10.1590/1519-6984.203124. PMid:31576929.
- CHAVES, P.T. and FREIRE, K.M.F., 2012. A pesca esportiva e o pesquee-solte: pesquisas recentes e recomendações para estudos no Brasil. *Bioikos*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 29-34.
- CLEMENTE, A.C.F., ANDRADE, L.G., STOPPA, E.A. and SANTOS, G.E.O., 2020. Políticas públicas frente aos impactos econômicos da Covid-19 no Turismo. *Cenário: Revista Interdisciplinar Em Turismo e Território*, vol. 8, no. 14, pp. 73-85. http://doi.org/10.26512/ revistacenario.v8i14.32210.
- CONDINI, M.V.L., GARCIA, A.M. and VIEIRA, J.P., 2007. Descrição da pesca e perfil sócio-econômico do pescador da garoupaverdadeira *Epinephelus marginatus* (Lowe) (Serranidae: Epinephelinae) no Molhe Oeste da Barra de Rio Grande, Rio Grande do Sul, Brasil. *Pan-American Journal of Aquatic Sciences*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 279-287.
- COOKE, S.J. and COWX, I.G., 2004. The role of recreational fishing in global fish crises. *Bioscience*, vol. 54, no. 9, pp. 857-859. http:// doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[0857:TRORFI]2.0.CO;2.
- COOKE, S.J., TWARDEK, W.M., LYNCH, A.J., COWX, I.G., OLDEN, J.D., FUNGE-SMITH, S., LORENZEN, K., ARLINGHAUS, R., CHEN, Y., WEYL, O.L.F., NYBOER, E.A., POMPEU, P.S., CARLSON, S.M., KOEHN, J.D., PINDER, A.C., RAGHAVAN, R., PHANG, S., KONING, A.A., TAYLOR, W.W., BARTLEY, D. and BRITTON, J.R., 2021a. A global perspective on the influence of the COVID-19 pandemic on freshwater fish biodiversity. *Biological Conservation*, vol. 253, pp. 108932. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108932.
- COOKE, S.J., VENTURELLI, P., TWARDEK, W.M., LENNOX, R.J., BROWNSCOMBE, J.W., SKOV, C., HYDER, K., SUSKI, C.D., DIGGLES, B.K., ARLINGHAUS, R. and DANYLCHUK, A.J., 2021b. Technological innovations in the recreational fishing sector: implications for fisheries management and policy. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 253-288. http://doi.org/10.1007/ s11160-021-09643-1 PMid:33642705.
- EMPRESA ESTADUAL DO TURISMO DO AMAZONAS AMAZONASTUR, 2020 [viewed 27 October 2021]. Turismo de pesca é segmento forte e Barcelos um dos principais destinos [online]. Available from: www.amazonastur.am.gov.br/turismo-de-pesca-esegmento-forte-no-am-e-barcelos-um-dos-principais-destinos/
- FALCÓN, V.V., SÁNCHEZ, F.C. and FERNÁNDEZ, A.R., 2020. Impacto de la COVID-19 en el turismo mundial. *Revista Universidad y Sociedad*, vol. 12, pp. 207-216.
- FREIRE, K.M.F., BELHABIB, D., ESPEDIDO, J.C., HOOD, L., KLEISNER, K.M., LAM, V.W.L., MACHADO, M.L., MENDONÇA, J.T., MEEUWIG, J.J., MORO, P.S., MOTTA, F.S., PALOMARES, M.-L.D., SMITH, N., TEH, L., ZELLER, D., ZYLICH, K. and PAULY, D., 2020. Estimating global catches of marine recreational fisheries. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, vol. 7, pp. 12. http://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00012.
- FREITAS, C.E.C. and RIVAS, A.A.F., 2006. A pesca e os recursos pesqueiros na Amazônia Ocidental. *Ciência e Cultura*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 30-32.
- FURTADO, C.L.C., 2020 [viewed 27 October 2021]. Efeito da pesca comercial e esportiva sobre os "troféus" de tucunaré-açu (Cichla temensis, Humboldt, 1821) em um trecho do médio Rio Negro, Barcelos Amazonas [online]. Manaus: Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas na Amazônia, 86 p. Masters Dissertation in Science

Biology. Available from: https://repositorio.inpa.gov.br/ bitstream/1/20179/1/Disserta%c3%a7%c3%a3o_Chiara%20 Lubich.pdf

- GARCEZ, D.S., SÁNCHEZ-BOTERO, J.I. and FABRÉ, N.N., 2010. Fatores que influenciam no comportamento territorial de ribeirinhos sobre ambientes de pesca em áreas de várzea do baixo Solimões, Amazônia Central, Brasil. *Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi. Ciências Humanas*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 587-607. http://doi. org/10.1590/S1981-81222010000300003.
- GARRONE-NETO, D., SANCHES, E.A., DAROS, F.A.L.D.M., IMANOBU, C.M.R. and MORO, P.S., 2018. Using the same fish with different rules: a science-based approach for improving management of recreational fisheries in a biodiversity hotspot of the Western South Atlantic. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 253-260. http://doi.org/10.1111/fme.12288.
- GIGLIO, V.J., SUHETT, A.C., ZAPELINI, C.S., RAMIRO, A.S. and QUIMBAYO, J.P., 2020. Assessing captures of recreational spearfishing in Abrolhos reefs, Brazil, through social media. *Regional Studies in Marine Science*, vol. 34, pp. 100995. http:// doi.org/10.1016/j.rsma.2019.100995.
- GUABIROBA, H.C., SANTOS, M.E.A., PINHEIRO, H.T., SIMON, T., PIMENTEL, C.R., VILAR, C.C. and JOYEUX, J.C., 2020. Trends in recreational fisheries and reef fish community structure indicate decline in target species population in an isolated tropical oceanic island. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, vol. 191, pp. 105194. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2020.105194.
- HARAYASHIKI, C.A.Y., FURLAN, F.M. and VIEIRA SOBRINHO, J.P., 2011. Perfil sócio-econômico dos pescadores da Ponte dos Franceses, Rio Grande, RS, Brasil. *Boletim do Instituto de Pesca*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 93-101.
- INSTITUTO BRASILEIRO DE GEOGRAFIA E ESTATÍSTICA IBGE, 2021a [viewed 22 October 2021]. *Cidades* [online]. Available from: https://cidades.ibge.gov.br/brasil/am/panorama.
- INSTITUTO BRASILEIRO DE GEOGRAFIA E ESTATÍSTICA IBGE, 2021b [viewed 10 October 2021]. *Geociências* [online]. Available from: https://www.ibge.gov.br/geociencias/downloadsgeociencias.html
- INTERNATIONAL GAME FISH ASSOCIATION IFGA [online], 2021 [viewed 10 October 2021]. Available from: www.igfa.org
- KULLANDER, S.O. and FERREIRA, E.J.G., 2006. A review of the South American cichlid genus *Cichla*, with descriptions of nine new species (Teleostei: Cichlidae). *Ichthyological Exploration of Freshwaters*, vol. 17, no. 93, pp. 289-398.
- LAMAS, S.A., SILVA, C.B. and NASCIMENTO, E.D., 2020. Impactos da Covid-19 no trabalho do turismo no Brasil: perspectivas dos/as trabalhadores/as. *Revista Turisma: Estudos e Práticas*, vol. 9, pp. 1-16.
- LAURELLI, A.R., RAMIRES, M. and BARRELLA, W., 2021. Relato sobre a pesca do robalo no Canal de Bertioga durante a pandemia COVID-19. *Research, Society and Development*, vol. 10, no. 6, e27010615805. http://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v10i6.15805.
- LENNOX, R.J., BROWNSCOMBE, J.W., COOKE, S.J., DANYLCHUK, A.J., MORO, P.S., SANCHES, E.A. and GARRONE-NETO, D., 2015. Evaluation of catch-and-release angling practices for the fat snook *Centropomus parallelus* in a Brazilian estuary. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, vol. 113, pp. 1-7. http://doi.org/10.1016/j. ocecoaman.2015.05.005.
- LENZEN, M., LI, M., MALIK, A., POMPONI, F., SUN, Y.-Y., WIEDMANN, T., FATURAY, F., FRY, J., GALLEGO, B., GESCHKE, A., GÓMEZ-PAREDES, J., KANEMOTO, K., KENWAY, S., NANSAI, K., PROKOPENKO, M., WAKIYAMA, T., WANG, Y. and YOUSEFZADEH, M., 2020. Global socio-economic losses and environmental gains from

the Coronavirus pandemic. *PLoS One*, vol. 15, no. 7, e0235654. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0235654. PMid:32645023.

- LIMA, S.P.M. and SCHOR, T., 2008. Parintins, a "ilha digital" na calha do rio Amazonas: uma análise da distribuição espacial da infraestrutura de comunicação na calha Solimões-Amazonas. *Revista Espaço e Geografia*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 1.
- LOPES, G.C.D.S., MATOS, O.F. and FREITAS, C.E., 2023. Spatial dynamics of Amazonian commercial fisheries: an analysis of landscape composition and fish landings. *Brazilian Journal of Biology = Revista Brasileira de Biologia*, vol. 83, e265791. http:// doi.org/10.1590/1519-6984.265791. PMid:36651451.
- LOPES, G.C.S. and FREITAS, C.E.C., 2019. Dynamics of commercial fishery at the middle stretch of the Negro River: exploitation intensity by fishing grounds. *Boletim do Instituto de Pesca*, vol. 45, no. 4, e491. http://doi.org/10.20950/1678-2305.2019.45.4.491.
- LOPES, G.C.S., CATARINO, M.F., CASTELLO, L. and FREITAS, C.E.C., 2020. Amazon commercial fishing dynamics: a space macroscale analysis on fishing variables. *Brazilian Journal of Development*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 6025-6044. http://doi.org/10.34117/bjdv6n2-053.
- LUBICH, C., CAMPOS, C., FREITAS, C. and SIQUEIRA-SOUZA, F., 2021. Effects of fishing on the population of Speckled Pavon Cichla temensis in the Middle Negro River (Amazonas State, Brazil): a decrease in the size of the trophy fish? Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, vol. 150, no. 6, pp. 667-678. http:// doi.org/10.1002/tafs.10329.
- LUBICH, C., SIQUEIRA-SOUZA, F. and FREITAS, C., 2023. Freshwater Sport Fishing: Characterization of operations in the middle Negro River, Amazonas, Brazil. *Boletim do Instituto de Pesca*, vol. 49. http://doi.org/10.20950/1678-2305/bip.2023.49.e738.
- MECCA, M.S. and GEDOZ, M.G.D.A., 2020. Covid-19: reflexos no turismo. *Rosa dos Ventos*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 1-5. http://doi. org/10.18226/21789061.v12i3a06.
- MENEZES, T.Z., SIMONETTI, S.R., DE LIMA, A.R.N. and NOGUEIRA, D.R.C., 2021. Reflexões em tempos de pandemia: um olhar sobre o turismo no Amazonas. *Geo UERJ*, vol. 39, no. 39, e61315. http://doi.org/10.12957/geouerj.2021.61315.
- MICHAILIDIS, N., KATSANEVAKIS, S. and CHARTOSIA, N., 2020. Recreational fisheries can be of the same magnitude as commercial fisheries: the case of Cyprus. *Fisheries Research*, vol. 231, pp. 105711. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2020.105711.
- PARADIS, Y., BERNATCHEZ, S., LAPOINTE, D. and COOKE, S.J., 2021. Can you fish in a pandemic? An overview of recreational fishing management policies in North America during the COVID-19 crisis. *Fisheries*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 81-85. http://doi. org/10.1002/fsh.10544.
- PEREIRA, D.V., SILVA, L.F. and SOUSA, K.N.S., 2019. Distribuição espacial dos sítios de captura registrados nos polos de desembarque pesqueiro no município de Santarém (Pará-Brasil). *Biota Amazônia*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 43-47.
- PINHEIRO, H.T. and JOYEUX, J.C., 2015. The role of recreational fishermen in the removal of target reef fishes. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, vol. 112, pp. 12-17. http://doi.org/10.1016/j. ocecoaman.2015.04.015.
- PINTO, D.M., SANTOS, C.F., CUNHA, S.S.M., NEVES, K.P., RODRIGUES, E.R.F. and COSTA DORIA, C.R., 2024. Contribuição da pesca esportiva para os estudos ambientais na região da bacia do Madeira (Rondônia, Amazônia, Brasil). Revista EDUCAmazônia -Educação, Sociedade e Meio Ambiente, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 779-799.
- REIS, M.M.T., LADISLAU, D.S., RIBEIRO, M.W.S., GUIMARÃES, C.C., PAIVA, A.J.V., MATTOS, D.C., ARIDE, P.H.R. and OLIVEIRA, A.T., 2022. Socioeconomic aspects and profile of fishing according to fishers of commercial edible fish in the municipality of

Barcelos, middle Negro River, Amazonas, Brazil. *Brazilian Journal of Biology = Revista Brasileira de Biologia*, vol. 82, e264210. http://doi.org/10.1590/1519-6984.264210. PMid:36350939.

- RODRIGUES, R.P., PEREIRA JUNIOR, J.D.A., BRABO, M.F., SANTOS, F.J.S., ARANHA, T.V. and SANTOS, M.A.S., 2020. A pesca esportiva marinha no município de São Caetano de Odivelas, Estado do Pará, Amazônia, Brasil. *Research. Social Development*, vol. 9, no. 7, e835974701. http://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v9i7.4701.
- SANCHES, R.A.K. and PIANA, P.A., 2020. The influence of catchand-release on mortality of Salminus brasiliensis (Cuvier, 1816). Brazilian Journal of Biology = Revista Brasileira de Biologia, vol. 80, no. 4, pp. 705-710. http://doi.org/10.1590/1519-6984.204168. PMid:31778476.
- SILVA, E.I.D. and LIMA, I.B.D., 2014. O potencial econômico e turístico da pesca esportiva na Amazônia Setentrional. *Revista Brasileira de Ecoturismo*, vol. 7, no. 4. http://doi.org/10.34024/ rbecotur.2014.v7.6367.
- SOARES, R.M., 2016. Rádio cipó, radiofonia e internet, formas de comunicação desde São Gabriel da Cachoeira. In: Anais da 30^a Reunião Brasileira de Antropologia, 2016, João Pessoa, PB. Brasília: ABANT, pp. 1-15.
- SOBREIRO, T., 2015. Urban-rural livelihoods, fishing conflicts and indigenous movements in the Middle Rio Negro Region of the Brazilian Amazon. Bulletin of Latin American Research, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 53-69. http://doi.org/10.1111/blar.12259.
- SOBREIRO, T. and FREITAS, C.E., 2008. Conflitos e territorialidade no uso de recursos pesqueiros do Médio Rio Negro. In: Anais do IV Encontro Nacional da ANPPAS, 2008, Brasília, DF. Brasília: ANPPAS, v. 1, pp. 78-91.

- THOMÉ-SOUZA, M.J., MACEINA, M.J., FORSBERG, B.R., MARSHALL, B.G. and CARVALHO, Á.L., 2014. Peacock bass mortality associated with catch-and-release sport fishing in the Negro River, Amazonas State, Brazil. Acta Amazonica, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 527-532. http://doi.org/10.1590/1809-4392201400193.
- TSURUDA, J.M., NASCIMENTO, R.B., BARRELLA, W., RAMIRES, M. and ROTUNDO, M.M., 2013. Fishing and socio-economic profile of sportive anglers of Galhetas Tip, Asturias Beach-Guarujá (SP). Unisanta BioScience, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 22-34.
- VALENTE, H.M., FURTADO-JÚNIOR, I. and SANTOS, D.C., 2019. Levantamento de locais de pesca esportiva no estado do Pará. Boletim Técnico-Científico do CEPNOR, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 43-48.
- VARANDAS, D.N., MARTINS, M.L., MORAES, F.R.D., RAMOS, F.M., SANTOS, R.F.B. and FUJIMOTO, R.Y., 2013. Pesque-solte: pesca repetitiva, variáveis hematológicas e parasitismo no peixe híbrido tambacu. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira*, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 1058-1063. http://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X2013000800035.
- VENTICINQUE, E., FORSBERG, B., BARTHEM, R., PETRY, P., HESS, L., MERCADO, A., CAÑAS, C., MONTOYA, M., DURIGAN, C. and GOULDING, M., 2016. An explicit GIS-based river basin framework for aquatic ecosystem conservation in the Amazon. *Earth System Science Data*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 651-661. http://doi. org/10.5194/essd-8-651-2016.
- VIDAL, M.D., PAIM, F.P., NASSAR, P.M. and SIMONETTI, S.R., 2021. Impacts of Covid-19 pandemic on ecotourism segment in Amazonas State, Brazil. Anais Brasileiros de Estudos Turísticos, vol. 11, pp. 1-12. http://doi.org/10.34019/2238-2925.2021.v11.31517.
- ZAR, J.H. 2010. *Biostatistical analysis*. 5th ed. Upper Saddle River: Prentice Hall.